

## RESIDENTIAL DESIGN AND LAYOUT POLICY

### Appendix 1 Residential Design and Layout Policy

4.67 As well as securing an adequate supply of housing of a mix of sizes, types and tenures to meet needs in the District, to ensure the quality of life of Three Rivers' residents and communities it is essential that all housing that is provided is of high quality and that there is suitable accommodation to meet a range of needs.

4.68 Achieving this requires new development to be designed in accordance with the objectives and full range of policies of the new Local Plan, as well as specific design principles for new homes set out in the following preferred policy.

#### Preferred Policy Option 6 Residential Design and Layout

- (1)
- (2) All applications for residential development, including new dwellings, replacement dwellings, and extensions or alterations to existing dwellings should satisfy the preferred Design Criteria as set out in Appendix 1 to ensure that development does not lead to a gradual deterioration in the quality of the built environment, and that landscaping, the need for privacy and amenity space and the creation of identity in housing layouts are taken into account.  
  
**New Residential Development**
- (3) All new development should be designed and built to a high quality for the duration of its lifetime and should comply with the National Design Guide. This includes C3 and C4 Use Class developments, conversions and changes of use where planning permission is required.
- (4) New residential development should make the most efficient use of land, which may include conversion or change of use of existing buildings, new development and taking opportunities to use airspace above existing buildings where this would be consistent with policies of the Local Plan and would not compromise the quality of the environment and existing residential areas.
- (5) The Council will protect the character and residential amenity of existing areas of housing from forms of backland, infill or other forms of new residential development which are inappropriate for the area.
- (6) Development will be supported where it can be demonstrated that the proposal will not result in harm to the character or amenities of an area including through:
  - a) Tandem development;
  - b) Servicing by an awkward access drive which cannot easily be used by service vehicles;
  - c) Unsafe or unsuitable access arrangements;
  - d) The generation of excessive levels of traffic;

Deleted: and Accessible and Adaptable Buildings

Deleted: and Accessible and Adaptable Buildings

**Deleted:** All new housing development should be designed and built to a high quality for the duration of its lifetime . This includes C3 and C4 Use Class developments, conversions and changes of use. A high quality dwelling is one which meets the criteria set out in this policy and which accords with the Local Plan objectives and other relevant Local Plan policies.

Deleted: housing

## RESIDENTIAL DESIGN AND LAYOUT POLICY

- e) Loss of residential amenity; or
- f) Layouts detrimental to the particular character of an area in terms of plot size, plot depth, building footprint, plot frontage width, frontage building line, height, gaps between buildings and streetscape features (e.g. hedges, walls, grass verges etc.).

(7) The individual and cumulative effect of applications for development on the character of an area will be taken into account and piecemeal development will be resisted in favour of comprehensive proposals that properly address design requirements.

(8) Major development will be required to provide a masterplan and should follow the principles of design and master-planning in accordance with the National Design Guide and National Model Design Codes.

**Deleted:** Significant

**Deleted:** accordingly to

### Subdivision of Dwellings

(9) Subject to other development policies, proposals for the conversion of single dwellings into two or more units will generally be acceptable where:

- a) The building is suitable for conversion by reason of its size, shape and number of rooms. Normally, only dwellings with three or more bedrooms will be considered suitable for conversion;
- b) The dwellings created are completely self-contained, with separate front doors either giving direct access to the dwelling, or a secure communal lobby or stairwell which itself has a secure entrance;
- c) Adequate car parking, services and amenity space can be provided for each new unit in compliance with the Council's standards;
- d) The character of the area and the residential amenity of immediate neighbours are protected; and
- e) If conversion of semi-detached dwellings is proposed, generally this takes place in pairs in order that privacy and the amenities of the occupants of the adjoining dwelling are maintained.

### Internal Space Standards

(10) All residential development should meet or exceed the Technical Housing Standards as set out by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG). Appropriate consideration should also be given to:

**Deleted:** and External Amenity

**Deleted:** unless a different approach is robustly justified

- a) Providing sufficient space for the general and specific storage needs of residents (including those with disabilities);
- b) Floor layouts which provide for practical usable space and a good standard of amenity; and
- c) The provision of rooms which are designed to function comfortably and efficiently for their intended purpose.

## RESIDENTIAL DESIGN AND LAYOUT POLICY

(11)

### Amenity Standards

(12) All development should meet the standards for the quantity and quality of amenity space as set out in Appendix 1, unless a different approach is robustly justified.

(13)

**Deleted:** Standards for the quantity and quality of external amenity space set out at Appendix 1 should be met) unless a different approach is robustly justified.

**Deleted: Accessible and Adaptable Buildings¶**  
All housing should be designed and built to encourage sustainable and flexible living, and should be built to be accessible and adaptable to meet changing occupier circumstances over the lifetime of the development. On developments of 50 or more dwellings:

**Deleted:** a) 10% of new homes should meet Building Regulations M4(2) standard (accessible and adaptable dwellings) and¶  
b) 10% of the affordable housing should meet Building Regulations M4(3) standard (wheelchair user dwellings) or subsequent standards in legislation to make homes accessible and adaptable. ¶

¶  
In calculating the percentage of accessible and adaptable dwellings units to be provided as part of a development scheme, the M4(2) and M4(3) requirement will normally be 'rounded up' to the nearest whole number.

### Why is this the Preferred Policy Option?

- 4.69 To deliver the step-change in housing required to meet needs in the area the preferred policy confirms that new development should make the most efficient use of land without compromising the quality of the environment and residential areas in line with the NPPF requirement that policies optimise use of land and seek a significant uplift in density in city and town centres and areas well served by public transport unless there are strong reasons why this would be inappropriate.
- 4.70 While there is a need to increase the density of development generally and encourage innovation in the delivery of new housing, it is also essential that new housing provided is of high quality and that the quality of the environment and existing residential areas is maintained or enhanced. The NPPF also acknowledges at paragraph 122 that development should take into account the desirability of maintaining an area's prevailing character and setting (including residential gardens), and at paragraph 70 that there may be a case for policies to resist inappropriate development of residential gardens for example where development would cause harm to the local area.
- 4.71 Pressure for development including on garden land or for infill development can erode the particular character of an area or impact on the residential amenity of both existing and new occupants if not managed. However, taking a different approach to the established character of an area will not necessarily be harmful in all cases where it is informed by careful consideration for important elements of local character and the quality of the area.
- 4.72 In particular, proposals for tandem development (one or more dwellings directly behind one another on the same plot and sharing the same access) or backland development (one or more dwellings provided to the rear of existing buildings with no street frontage and generally accessed by a long driveway) need to be carefully considered as these can often be inappropriate.
- 4.73 The subdivision of existing dwellings can also contribute a source of new housing supply and these types of applications can be a satisfactory way of raising densities in low density areas close to local transport nodes and local services. Whether or not subdivision is acceptable will depend on the characteristics of the building and area, and the standard of accommodation that can be created.

### Internal Space Standards

**Deleted:** and External Amenity

## RESIDENTIAL DESIGN AND LAYOUT POLICY

- 4.74 Delivering high quality housing requires careful consideration for the provision of usable internal space, as well as providing access to a suitable quantity and quality of external amenity space to support quality of life for residents.
- 4.75 To provide for a suitable standard of accommodation, the Government has published nationally described space standards (NDSS) which set out optional requirements for the floor area of new dwellings depending on the level of occupancy, as well as floor areas and dimensions for key parts of the home such as bedrooms, storage and floor to ceiling heights.
- 4.76 The NPPF sets out that Local Plans may make use of these NDSS where the need for an internal space standard can be justified. Monitoring information shows that 193 dwellings (25%) permitted in Three Rivers between April 2015 and March 2019 were smaller than the NDSS. This is a significant proportion and suggests that there is a clear need to apply the NDSS to new housing development in Three Rivers.
- 4.77 As such, requiring new development to generally accord with NDSS would provide for improvement to the quality of housing being delivered and resulting benefits for the general health and wellbeing of the community and a more flexible and adaptable housing stock better able to meet the needs of residents.

### **Amenity Space Standards**

- 4.78 Similarly, ensuring that residents have access to a suitable quantity and quality of private or semiprivate amenity space is important to provide for a good quality of life and the standards at Appendix 1 should be applied with consideration for the shape and utility of space provided to ensure that spaces offer good amenity.

### **Why is this the Preferred Policy Option?**

- 4.79 A higher threshold of 100 dwellings was considered for the provision of accessible and adaptable dwellings and wheelchair user dwellings.

#### **Deleted: Accessible and Adaptable Dwellings¶**

4.79 Providing a flexible housing stock is an important element of ensuring that a wide range of accommodation needs can be met and that these can respond as needs change over time. As a consequence, all new homes should be designed to be flexible, accessible and adaptable to support the changing needs of individuals and families.¶

4.80 Given the ageing population in Three Rivers, it is particularly important that there is housing which would be suitable for any occupiers, regardless of whether or not they have a disability at the time of initial occupation¶

4.81 The LHNA (2020) recommendation is that Council's should seek as much M4 (2) (accessible and adaptable dwellings) housing as viably possible and 10% of affordable housing to be M4(3) compliant to meet the identified need for wheelchair users over the plan period.